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       October 10, 2022 

 

Patrick Ryan, CEO  

William R. Sharpe, Jr., Hospital 

936 Sharpe Hospital Road 

Weston, West Virginia 26452 

 

 RE: Probable Cause Notice – W.Va. Code §16-5B-2; 42 C.F.R. §482.13(c); and 42  

  C.F.R. §482.13(e) 

 

Dear Pat: 

 

 Based on patient census data that you provided on Friday, October 7, 2022, and other 

recent data, DRWV has found probable cause that William R. Sharpe, Jr., Hospital (“Sharpe”) 

has violated and continues to violate W.Va. Code §16-5B-2 by its unlawful pattern of 

maintaining a patient census that exceeds Sharpe’s licensed bed capacity.1  The violation of 

W.Va. Code §16-5B-2 constitutes a misdemeanor.  See W.Va. Code §16-5B-11 (“violating any 

provision of this article or any rule or regulation lawfully promulgated thereunder, shall be guilty 

of a misdemeanor….”).   

 

 As discussed below, Sharpe’s conduct jeopardizes patient rights, undermines patient care, 

promotes an unsafe environment for staff and patients, and exposes the state of West Virginia to 

legal action.  Sharpe’s conduct has also caused or contributed to patient abuse and neglect in 

violation of the Protection and Advocacy for Individuals with Mental Illness Act and the 

Developmental Disabilities Assistance and Bill of Rights Act of 2000.  See 42 U.S.C. §10801 et 

seq., and 42 U.S.C. § 15041 et seq. 

 

 Sharpe has 200 licensed beds according to the Office of Health Facility Licensure and 

Certification (“OHFLAC”).  W.Va. Code §16-5B-2 provides that “[a]ny change in the number 

by type of bed and/or type of services shall require the issuance of a new license.” (emphasis 

added).  W.Va. C.S.R. §64-12-2.4 defines “bed capacity” as “[t]he maximum number of beds a 

hospital is licensed to offer inpatient care including all specialty beds.”  Based on DHHR data, 

Sharpe’s patient census has exceeded it licensed bed capacity approximately 66 separate days 

from May 4, 2022, through October 6, 2022 (“Review Period”).  See Sharpe Census Exhibit 

attached.2  DRWV is unaware of Sharpe ever having applied for or obtained a new license to 

increase Sharpe’s permissible bed capacity above 200. 

 
1 Sharpe has 200 licensed beds.  (https://ohflac.wvdhhr.org/Apps/Lookup/FacilityDetails/158099).   
 
2 The Exhibit contains census data that Sheila Miller provided to DRWV’s staff counsel, Jason Parmer. 

https://ohflac.wvdhhr.org/Apps/Lookup/FacilityDetails/158099
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 Sharpe’s unlawful patient census and Sharpe’s improper oversight and management that 

allows the unlawful census to continue creates and permits unsafe and inappropriate care in 

violation of 42 C.F.R. §482.13(c); impermissible and illegal use of restraints and seclusion in 

violation of 42 C.F.R. §482.13(e); a failure to monitor, educate, and train Sharpe personnel to 

provide services and care consistent with applicable law; and a violation of 42 C.F.R. §482.12 by 

Sharpe’s Governing Board in failing to properly oversee Sharpe’s conduct.  

 

 Sharpe’s census data raise other significant issues: 

 

 1. Sharpe has a habit and custom of maintaining and permitting an unlawful patient 

census; 

 

 2. The Review Period encompasses 159 days, and Sharpe’s census data reflect that 

Sharpe has exceeded its licensed bed capacity roughly 42% of the time during the Review 

Period.  In other words, Sharpe has only been in compliance with its licensed bed capacity 58% 

of the time since May 2022.  Sharpe’s unlawful census promotes and permits a culture of 

noncompliance in delivering legally mandated care to the state’s most vulnerable persons; 

 

 3. OHFLAC’s complaint survey of an event on June 22, 2022, reveals failures by 

you and Sharpe’s Governing Board to provide care in a safe setting and to maintain an 

environment free from abuse and harassment.3  On June 22, 2022, Sharpe was in violation of 

W.Va. Code §16-5B-2, and Sharpe’s unlawful census caused and/or contributed to Sharpe’s 

misconduct that resulted in a patient rights’ violation; 

 

 4. By probable cause notice dated October 2, 2022, I provided notice that two 

Sharpe patients were the victims of illegal physical abuse, neglect, and/or verbal abuse that 

occurred on September 22, 2022.  Sharpe’s patient census data on September 22, 2022, reflect 

that Sharpe’s census not only violated W.Va. Code §16-5B-2 on that date but that Sharpe’s 

census was the highest of any day during the Review Period.  Sharpe’s illegal and excessive 

patient census fostered an environment that permitted and promoted the abusive illegal conduct 

of Sharpe and Sharpe personnel on September 22, 2022; 

 

 5. Sharpe’s pattern of maintaining a patient census that exceeds its licensed bed 

capacity calls into question your conduct4 and the conduct of Sharpe’s Governing Board.5  

Sharpe’s census reflects a pattern of noncompliance and a pattern of discrimination in violation 

 
3 https://ohflac.wvdhhr.org/Apps/Lookup/FacilityDetails/158099 
 
4 W.Va. Code §27-1-7(a) (“The administrator of a state-operated treatment facility is its chief executive officer and 

has the authority to manage and administer the financial, business and personnel affairs of such facility.”). 

 
5  Sharpe’s Bylaws expressly require the Governing Board to formulate “programs for efficient delivery of care, 

compliance with applicable law (including Medicare regulations and other applicable regulations) and 

development, review and revision of policies and procedures.”  See Sharpe’s Bylaws Art. III, sec. 6e.  (emphasis 

added). 

 

https://ohflac.wvdhhr.org/Apps/Lookup/FacilityDetails/158099
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of W.Va. C.S.R. §64-59-5.2 (“All mental health facilities shall make available all services to 

persons in need without discrimination because of race, creed, color, sex, age, national origin, 

marital status, lack of wealth, disability, or duration of residence.”); 

 

 6. Sharpe’s unlawful patient census calls into question the oversight of Secretary 

Bill J. Crouch.  The DHHR Secretary has a mandatory, nondiscretionary duty to manage Sharpe 

and the state hospitals.  See W.Va. Code §27-2-1 (“The secretary shall, in respect to the control 

and management of the state hospitals and other state mental health facilities, perform the same 

duties and functions as were heretofore exercised or performed by the Director of Health.”) 

(emphasis added).  Further, Secretary Crouch testified before the Senate Finance Committee on 

January 31, 2022, in response to Senator Nelson’s inquiry that “we are working on a plan to 

reduce the number of individuals to the extent possible” who are admitted to Sharpe and Mildred 

Mitchell-Bateman Hospital.6  It has been roughly 252 days since Secretary Crouch’s testimony 

and, upon information and belief, Secretary Crouch has neither prepared nor disclosed the plan 

about which he testified.  Sharpe’s unlawful patient census continues, and Sharpe’s violation of 

the law has become an accepted practice; 

 

 7. Sharpe’s unlawful patient census rate warrants scrutiny of Shevona Lusk, Office 

of Health Facilities’ Chief Operating Officer.  Ms. Lusk is required to monitor and implement 

necessary protocols to ensure legal compliance.  See Sharpe Bylaws Art. III, sec. 6 (“The Office 

of Health Facilities also reserves the right to intervene and participate in all matters entrusted to 

the Board.”).  Given that Sharpe’s patient census compliance rate is only roughly 58% during the 

Review Period and given Ms. Lusk’s September 7, 2022, directive to her administrators and 

chief executive officers to withhold information from DRWV – “If you receive a request from 

Disability Rights, do not provide information”7 – Ms. Lusk appears to be attempting to 

purposefully conceal information about indisputable and known violations of applicable law; and 

 

 8. DRWV recognizes that staffing challenges and court orders can create uncertainty 

and inconsistency with patient admissions.  DRWV also recognizes that managing a psychiatric 

hospital has unique challenges.  However, as Secretary Crouch’s January 31, 2022, appearance 

before the Senate Finance Committee revealed, many of the challenges predate the COVID-19 

pandemic, are self-inflicted by DHHR, and are historic problems with DHHR management.  

Further, Secretary Crouch acknowledged before the Committee that he was working on a plan.  

Ninety-three (93) days after Secretary Crouch’s testimony about a purported “plan” to reduce 

admissions Sharpe started the current trend of operating in violation of W.Va. Code §16-5B-2.  

Inaction has now become misfeasance, and bordering on malfeasance, that merely bolsters a 

 
6 Secretary Crouch’s Senate testimony at 4:42 p.m. (http://sg001-

harmony.sliq.net/00289/Harmony/en/PowerBrowser/PowerBrowserV2/20220131/-1/56186#people_) 

 
7 Ms. Lusk’s directive is consistent with Secretary Crouch’s prior reported directive to DHHR staff not to speak to 

West Virginia legislators.  In response to questioning from Senator Baldwin at the January 31, 2022, Senate Finance 

Committee at 4:20 p.m., Secretary Crouch initially denied that he had such a policy and that he was unaware of such 

policy that required DHHR employees to get prior approval to speak to legislators.  Upon further questioning, 

Secretary Crouch conceded there is a policy but there’s no “written policy.”  (http://sg001-

harmony.sliq.net/00289/Harmony/en/PowerBrowser/PowerBrowserV2/20220131/-1/56186#people_) 

 

http://sg001-harmony.sliq.net/00289/Harmony/en/PowerBrowser/PowerBrowserV2/20220131/-1/56186#people_
http://sg001-harmony.sliq.net/00289/Harmony/en/PowerBrowser/PowerBrowserV2/20220131/-1/56186#people_
http://sg001-harmony.sliq.net/00289/Harmony/en/PowerBrowser/PowerBrowserV2/20220131/-1/56186#people_
http://sg001-harmony.sliq.net/00289/Harmony/en/PowerBrowser/PowerBrowserV2/20220131/-1/56186#people_
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culture of noncompliance where it is acceptable for Sharpe to violate the law, jeopardize patient 

rights, and promote an unsafe environment for staff and patients. 

 

 Given the foregoing, DRWV requests that Sharpe provide within thirty (30) days the 

following information and documents: 

 

 1. A written plan that identifies in acceptable detail the resources, protocols, 

standards, and monitoring that will be needed and implemented to ensure compliance with 

W.Va. Code §16-5B-2 no later than November 30, 2022.  The plan must also identify the person 

or persons responsible for ensuring compliance with the plan and provide a means to resolve 

issues or grievances regarding future compliance with W.Va. Code §16-5B-2 to ensure patients 

committed to the custody of DHHR receive the care, treatment, and services required by law;  

 

 2. A written copy of Secretary Crouch’s plan to reduce the number of persons 

admitted to Sharpe and MMBH about which he testified 252 days ago before the Senate Finance 

Committee; and 

 

 3. A copy of any root cause analyses or any other investigations or reviews, whether 

internally or by a third party, to determine the cause and/or contributing causes of Sharpe’s 

noncompliance with W.Va. Code §16-5B-2 and corrective action to ensure compliance with 

W.Va. Code §16-5B-2. 

 

 Please let us know what we may do to assist you in providing the requested documents 

and information and helping to redress any concerns. 

       Very truly yours, 

        
       Michael J. Folio 

       Legal Director 


